ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

DEC 11 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MANUEL ANTONIO MARIN,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002001

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether petitioner was entitled to a jury charge on a correct statement of law fitting the facts of this self-defense case: that one acting in self-defense has the right to continue shooting until it was apparent that the danger of death or serious bodily injury had ended?

STATEMENT

Procedural History

Petitioner was indicted by the Spartanburg County Grand Jury for the offenses of murder and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. His case was called to trial on October 25, 2010 before the Honorable J. Derham Cole, and a jury. Tanya Jones represented petitioner. Jennifer Jordan and Susan Reese were the assistant solicitors. R. 1

On October 27, 2010, the jury found petitioner guilty on both counts. R. 343, l. 25 – 344, l. 3. Judge Cole sentenced petitioner to life imprisonment for murder. R. 346, ll. 1-6. Petitioner filed a timely appeal with the Court of Appeals.

On February 5, 2013, a panel consisting of Chief Judge Few, Judge Geathers, and Judge Lockemy heard oral argument in this case. On July 3, 2013, the Court of Appeals affirmed petitioner's convictions in a published opinion authored by Chief Judge Few. App. 1. State v. Marin, 404 S.C. 615, 745 S.E.2d 148 (Ct. App. 2013). Petitioner filed a timely petition for rehearing which was denied on August 22, 2013. App. 15.

The denial of the petition for rehearing was not unanimous. App. 15. Judge Lockemy voted to grant rehearing. App. 15. On October 23, 2014, this Court granted certiorari and this brief of petitioner follows.

ARGUMENT

Petitioner was entitled to a jury charge on a correct statement of law fitting the facts of this self-defense case: that one acting in self-defense has the right to continue shooting until it was apparent that the danger of death or serious bodily injury had ended.

Introduction

In a case with no motive and no real explanation other than self-defense, the state's hurdle was proving malice. Petitioner took the stand and testified he was forced to shoot the drunken decedent in self-defense when he tried to grab petitioner's steering wheel and wreck the car. The decedent's blood alcohol level was 0.323. R. 173, ll. 22-25. After the shooting, petitioner found a public place in downtown Spartanburg, parked, and waited for the police to arrive.

The state never argued that petitioner intended to rob the decedent. The state never argued that prior bad blood existed between petitioner and the decedent. No drugs, other than the decedent's excessive alcohol consumption, played any role in this crime. The state's only argument that malice existed in this case was that petitioner fired two shots instead of one. Multiple times in her closing argument, the solicitor linked malice with the fact that two shots were fired. The jury returned during deliberations and asked again for the definition of malice. Had the trial judge not refused petitioner's requested charge that a person acting in self-defense can continue shooting, the state could not have persuaded the jury that malice existed.

Relevant Facts

This shooting happened after petitioner attempted to give the highly intoxicated decedent, Nelson Tabares ("Tabares") a ride home from a bar. Late on the night of July 20, 2008, Tabares was at Bongos Nightclub in Greenville, South Carolina. R. 12, l. 13 – 14, l. 18. A bouncer at Bongos, Christopher McDonald ("McDonald"), acknowledged the bar staff had to "cut [Tabares]

off.” R. 20, ll. 15 – 16. The bouncer observed that the decedent was “just pretty much stumbling everywhere” and “couldn’t really stand up.” R. 20, ll. 19 – 22. The pathologist diagnosed Tabares’s condition at a blood alcohol level of 0.323 as “knee-walking drunk.” R. 173, ll. 8 – 13. The pathologist testified that he had seen someone die from an alcohol overdose with a blood alcohol level of 0.270. R. 237, ll. 11 – 18.

Three men—bouncer McDonald; the bar’s owner, Larry Rodriguez (“Rodriguez”); and petitioner—took Tabares into the “back kitchen” where he stayed for over an hour. R. 21, ll. 5 – 24. Rodriguez had known Tabares for a long time and noticed he was not feeling well that night. Rodriguez would be the only witness to testify Tabares was not extremely intoxicated, speculating, “He was just not feeling good.” R. 13, l. 21 – 14, l. 18.

McDonald and Rodriguez were looking for someone to give the decedent a ride when petitioner offered to take him home. R. 22, l. 11 – 23, l. 10. Petitioner knew where Tabares lived. R. 22, l. 11 – 23, l. 10. McDonald remembered that he “basically carried [Tabares] out and actually put him in [petitioner’s] truck.” Petitioner reached for his laptop and typed in Tabares’ address -- apparently on the GPS -- that went with his laptop. R. 22, l. 11 – 24, l. 22. Tabares was “kinda like in and out” but “knew where he was at.” R. 29, ll. 12-17.

It was undisputed that petitioner drove, and that his friend Alfredo Jimenez (“Jimenez”) (petitioner’s former brother-in-law) rode in the front seat. Tabares was placed in the backseat of petitioner’s SUV. R. 243, l. 21 – 244, l. 6.

Larry Gory was apparently coming home from “personal business” early that morning when he came upon petitioner and Jimenez standing beside the road. R. 41, ll. 16 – 24. R. 44, ll. 3 – 22. Gory said it appeared they were trying to “pull something away from each other . . . one of the guys said could [you] call the police, he just – he shot him.” R. 41, ll. 3-24.

Spartanburg Police Officer Jeffery Powell (“Powell”) testified he arrived on the scene at about 4:05 a.m. and he recalled seeing petitioner and Jimenez. R. 49, ll. 15 – 21. Powell testified: “One of them [was] sitting in the intersection and one standing in the intersection of Daniel Morgan Avenue and West Main Street.” R. 49, ll. 17 – 21. He recalled that one of the men was very calm and the other was very upset. R. 49, l. 17 – 50, l. 13. Powell saw a weapon lying on the sidewalk and he picked it up and put it in his trunk. R. 51, l. 15 – 52, l. 7.

Powell remembered: “I asked him where it happened at, and he would just say Wal-Mart. He did say Wal-Mart . . . he said that the other individual [Tabares] was grabbing a hold of the steering wheel” and he was trying to wreck petitioner’s SUV. R. 56, ll. 9-18. Jimenez told Powell that they had left a club in Greenville and were supposed to be taking Tabares home. When they apparently passed what Tabares thought was “his road,” he “got very upset and was trying to, to get them to stop the car, and the driver wouldn’t stop. He said he just wouldn’t stop. And he said that was when he started fighting with the driver.” R. 59, ll. 2-21. Jimenez never testified, and it was unclear from the record in this case if he disappeared prior to trial or why he was not called as a witness.

Petitioner later testified in his own defense. Petitioner was the marketing director for a newspaper, and he recalled the events of July 20, 2008. R. 225, ll. 4-10. Petitioner went to the Colombian Festival that evening and afterwards made his way to Bongos. R. 225, l. 8 – 226, l. 20. Petitioner was mingling with Jimenez when Rodriguez asked him to give Tabares a ride home “and I agreed.” R. 227, l. 5 – 228, l. 9.

Petitioner remembered one of the bouncers gave him Tabares’ driver’s license “and I put the address on my laptop.” The laptop included a GPS. R. 230, l. 12 – 231, l. 20. The police confirmed that Tabares’ address had been entered into the computer. R. 147, ll. 11 – 14.

Petitioner recalled as they were driving he was talking with Jimenez “about the three Americans that had been liberated that past week, I mean, yeah, the past week, and the presidential candidate that [was] kidnapped in Colombia.” R. 231, l. 23 – 232, l. 6.

While he was talking with Jimenez, Tabares jumped up from the backseat and put petitioner in a headlock: “I hit the brakes. I hit the brakes, and the car went on the oncoming lane. And it was headed towards a telephone pole. But I got the car back on the road.” R. 232, l. 11 – 233, l. 12.

Petitioner said he was very scared after he almost hit the telephone pole, and “at that point . . . I decided not to take him home. I was just trying to find a public place, you know, people where I could, you know, possibly jump out of the car and get some help . . .” R. 234, ll. 8-14. Petitioner testified that given the hour “nothing seemed to be open . . . all of a sudden, you know, Mr. Tabares jumps up and grabs the steering wheel and he tries to run the car off the road . . . I kept pushing him, pushing him back . . .” Petitioner said Tabares continued coming after him, and “I grabbed the glove box and opened the glove box and got the pouch out which I had the gun in it . . . I pulled the gun out and I shot Mr. Tabares.” R. 234, l. 5 – 236, l. 11.

The forensic evidence corroborated petitioner’s version of events. A City of Greer police officer confirmed that there were fresh skid marks in the road where Jimenez said the incident occurred. R. 77, ll. 16 – 25. Also in the road were “particles of debris that appeared to be consistent with the vehicle’s condition that had had some damage to the front end.” R. 77, ll. 16 – 25. The front bumper of the car was missing. R. 125, ll. 1 – 4. Gunshot residue was found on the palm and the back of Tabares’ hands. R. 178, ll. 16 - 25. The crime scene investigator found Tabares’ torso between the front seats on the center console with his upper body in the front of the car. R. 127, ll. 8 – 21. All of the blood spatter was in the front of the car with none in the back. R. 127, l. 22 – 128, l. 6.

After the shooting, petitioner said Tabares fell on his knee and “I was terrified. I was really shocked.” R. 237, ll. 2 – 4. Petitioner continued to look for a public place where he could stop the car and ended up in downtown Spartanburg. R. 236, l. 2 – 237, l. 18.

Petitioner testified that Jimenez was also in shock when the men got out of the car. R. 238, ll. 1 – 3. They were both talking “fairly loud”: “[W]hy was he trying to kill me? Why was he trying to run us off the road?” R. 238, ll. 6 – 9. Petitioner said Jimenez “grabbed the gun, and I let him have it.” Petitioner did not recall where Jimenez put the gun. R. 238, ll. 1-21. However, as seen above, the gun was found nearby by the police officer and placed in his trunk. Petitioner testified, “I sat down and waited for the police to come . . . I sat down on the median.” R. 239, ll. 7-20.

On cross-examination, petitioner explained to the solicitor that it was very dark as he was driving that night and he was trying to keep the decedent from “killing us” by wrecking his SUV. R. 248, l. 1 – 251, l. 4. When the solicitor asked petitioner on cross-examination why there were *two shots* fired, petitioner answered: “It just happened within seconds.” R. 250, l. 22 – 252, l. 16.

The Defense’s Request to Charge

Defense counsel requested and the trial court agreed to charge self-defense. R. 259, l. 13 – 260, l. 9. R. 263, ll. 19 – 21. Then, during her closing, the solicitor made the highly inflammatory argument that the jury could infer malice because two shots were fired. The solicitor said, “Ladies and gentlemen, I submit this is malice. Two shots, not one, two shots to the back of the head. One of them tight contact, barrel up against the head.” R. 298, ll. 22 – 24. The solicitor also argued, “So when you shoot somebody in the head and they stop struggling with you, if that’s what they’re doing, you don’t have—you won’t shoot them a second time unless you pull that trigger a second

time.” R. 293, ll. 15 – 22. The solicitor said, “Would a reasonable person shoot someone twice in the back of the head?” R. 301, ll. 2 – 3.

When the trial court asked for exceptions after his charge, defense counsel stated he wanted an instruction that:

[I]f the defendant is justified in defending himself or others in firing the first shot, then the defendant—also continue—to continue shooting until it is apparent that the danger of death or serious bodily injury has been completed—has completely ended.

R. 332, ll. 6 – 12. For this proposition of law, defense counsel cited State v. Rye, 375 S.C. 119, 651 S.E.2d 321 (2007). R. 332, ll. 11 – 12. The trial judge responded that the proposed charge “sounds like a comment on the facts to me.” R. 332, ll. 13 – 14. After argument, Judge Cole declined to give petitioner’s requested charge. R. 332, l. 15 – 336, l. 1.

The jury then requested additional instruction on the definitions of malice and voluntary manslaughter. R. 336, ll. 16 – 19. The trial judge repeated his malice charge. R. 336, l. 21 – 338, l. 23. Following the jury’s confusion about malice and the additional charge, appellant again asked for the “continuing to shoot” charge, this time citing Douglas v. State, 332 S.C. 67, 504 S.E.2d 307 (1998) and State v. Hendrix, 270 S.C. 653, 244 S.E.2d 503 (1978). R. 341, l. 14 – 342, l. 11. The trial judge again refused to give the charge. R. 342, l. 12 – 343, l. 2. Approximately an hour later, the jurors returned with a verdict finding appellant guilty of murder. R. 343, l. 12 – 344, l. 5.

The Court of Appeals’ Decision

The Court of Appeals inconsistently held that: (1) the requested charge was not a correct statement of the law, and (2) that the requested charge had been sufficiently covered by the trial judge’s charge. Compare App. 4 (“We are concerned the charge [petitioner] requested is not a correct statement of law.”) with App. 6 (“Considered as a whole, the trial court’s charge explained this principle of law.”). With respect to its first inconsistent holding, the court stated that if

requested charge were correct, then defendants could continue to shoot “so long as the initial danger has not ‘*completely* ended.’” App. 4 (emphasis in original). With respect to its second inconsistent holding, the court held that petitioner’s requested charge “derives from the correct principle of law that, if no other element has been disproven, any particular act of deadly force done in self-defense is justified if the act was reasonably necessary to prevent death or serious bodily injury, under the circumstances as they existed at the time of the act.” App. 6. From this late recognition that petitioner’s requested charge was a correct statement of the law, the court concluded the requested charge was subsumed within the “may use such force is reasonably necessary” charge given by the trial court. App. 6-7.

Discussion

If the Court of Appeals’ reasoning is allowed to stand, it will mean that specific charges on principles of self-defense are unnecessary. Its decision contradicts this Court’s longstanding precedent that a trial judge has the responsibility to craft a self-defense charge tailored to the facts of a case. State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011); State v. Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 444-45, 377 S.E.2d 328, 331 (1989). As this Court recognized in Fuller, there is a “body of common law self-defense” and trial judges must “consider the facts and circumstances of the case at bar in order to fashion an appropriate charge.” Fuller at 443, 377 S.E.2d at 330.

A deep understanding of this Court’s decision in Fuller demonstrates the Court of Appeals’ error. In Fuller, the defendant was black. Id. at 441, 377 S.E.2d at 329. He solicited a white prostitute. Id. The prostitute took him to her trailer for sex, but the trailer was occupied and the defendant left. Id.

The defendant later returned to the prostitute’s trailer and a car driven by a white woman was blocking the road. Id. The defendant asked her to move her car. Id. At this point, two men

approached the defendant's car and asked him "what he was 'trying to do to that white lady.'" Id. One of the men used a racial slur and grabbed the defendant by the throat. Id. at 441, 377 S.E.2d at 329-30.

The defendant fired a warning shot which temporarily allowed him to drive away, but the street was a dead end. Id. at 442, 377 S.E.2d at 330. The two assailants tried to block the defendant's car from leaving and the defendant ultimately crashed and pinned his car against a steel rail. Id. The two men yelled, "'we're going to take care of you.'" Id. The defendant thought he saw something shiny in one of the men's hands and fired four shots at them, killing them both. Id. No gun was found on the assailants. Id.

Relying on State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 317 S.E.2d 452 (1984), the trial judge in Fuller only instructed the jury on the basic elements of self-defense. Id. This Court held it was error to only give the general charge from Davis when the defendant "repeatedly requested additional charges." Id. at 443, 377 S.E.2d at 330. The trial judge erred by not giving three specific charges on self-defense that further explained the principles in the general charge. First, the trial judge failed to charge the jury that a defendant has the right to act on appearances from State v. Jackson, 277 S.C. 271, 87 S.E.2d 681 (1955). Id. at 443-44, 377 S.E.2d at 330-31. Second, the trial judge failed to charge the jury that "words accompanied by hostile acts, may, depending on the circumstances, establish a plea of self-defense" from State v. Harvey, 220 S.C. 506, 68 S.E.2d 409 (1951). Id. Finally, the trial judge failed to charge that an individual has no duty to retreat "if by doing so he would increase his danger of being killed or suffering serious bodily injury" from State v. Hardin, 114 S.C. 280, 103 S.E. 557 (1920). Id. For each of these charges, this Court explained the specific facts necessitating the additional, illuminating instruction.

If the Court of Appeals' reasoning from petitioner's case were applied to Fuller, the case would not have been reversed. Under the Court of Appeals' analysis, general principles of self-defense are sufficient and further contextual charges are not required. The court believed that the general phrase "such force as is reasonably necessary" was sufficient in this case. App. 6. But if this phrase was sufficient, then the trial court's general charge in Fuller that a defendant who believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life could legitimately defend himself would have eliminated the need for the specific charges of acting on appearances or "words accompanied by acts." This Court held the specific charge was required. If the Court of Appeals' reasoning is correct here, then the Fuller trial court's general charge that the "defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger" would have eliminated the need for the specific charge that a defendant need not retreat if it increases the danger to himself. This Court held the specific charge was required. When the Court of Appeals' reasoning in this case is compared to this Court's holding in Fuller, it clearly stands in opposition to this Court's self-defense jurisprudence.

Here, the proper jury instruction petitioner wanted was similar in content – although a different principle – to the ones improperly refused in Fuller. The language requested by petitioner comes directly from this Court's decision in State v. Hendrix, 270 S.C. 653, 661, 244 S.E.2d 503, 507 (1978).¹ In Hendrix, the Court specifically held that "when a person is justified in firing the first shot, he is justified in continuing to shoot until it is apparent that the danger to his life and body

¹ The Court of Appeals initially stated that petitioner's requested instruction was not a correct statement of law, but Hendrix shows this to be incorrect. Other states impose even more stringent requirements on the prosecution when dealing with the question of multiple shots. In Illinois, "When it has been determined that a defendant was initially shooting in self-defense, the State must then prove that a sufficient amount of time had passed between the initial shot and any subsequent shots which would have allowed the defendant, as a reasonable person, to realize that no further shooting was necessary." People v. Guzman, 567 N.E.2d 500, 504 (Ill. App. Ct. 1990).

has ceased.” Id. This Court rejected the State’s argument that Hendrix used excessive force by firing four times. Id.

The “continuing to shoot” charge was required by the facts of this case, especially after the jury’s question about malice was provoked by the solicitor’s argument. The solicitor was urging upon the jury the incorrect sophomoric idea that you never have to shoot more than once to defend yourself. Self-defense is not an algebra problem and a defendant has the right to have the jury understand that. It was an elementary request on the law that once a defendant *properly fires in self-defense he can continue firing* until the danger is removed.

On cross-examination, petitioner explained to the solicitor that it was very dark that night and he was trying to keep the decedent from “killing us” by wrecking his vehicle. R. 248, l. 1 – 251, l. 4. When the solicitor asked petitioner on cross-examination why there were *two shots* fired, petitioner answered: “It just happened within seconds.” R. 250, l. 22 – 252; l. 16.

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