STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Spartanburg County
J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013 - 002001

RECEIVED

JAN 16 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MANUEL ANTONIO MARIN,

Petitioner

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON

Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH

Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA

Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ANTHONY MABRY

Assistant Attorney General

S.C. Bar No. 11973

P.O. Box 11549

Columbia, SC 29211

(803) 734-6305

BARRY J. BARNETTE

Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

***RUSSELL D. GHENT**

Assistant Solicitor

Primary Counsel

S.C. Bar No. 2439

180 Magnolia Street

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

Petitioner admitted the victim had no weapon, not a gun, or a knife, or even a plastic fork. (R. 247, ll. 9-13). However, he argued that he didn’t *know* that simply stopping the car would have ended the threat, retreating from his earlier testimony about the extent of the victim’s inebriation. (R. 247, ll. 14-25).

Petitioner could not deny that he had the presence of mind to reach into the glove box, extract a bag, and take a loaded and cocked gun from that bag. Then, while the victim supposedly struggled with him, and while a front seat passenger supposedly sat idly by with a threat of death clear and imminent, Petitioner moved the victim into a position of total helplessness and shot him twice, point-blank, in the back of the head, killing him instantly. (R. 248-53).

The Defendant at the close of the State’s case first informed the trial judge that he did not wish to testify, but changed his mind during the overnight recess and took the stand in his own behalf. In doing so, he placed his own credibility in issue before the jury as to the facts of the case, especially his own version of the killing.

The Petitioner's rendering of the essential facts at trial essentially conceded circumstances supporting the verdict of murder, and a question of fact between murder and voluntary manslaughter, and no factual basis for a verdict of self-defense.

He does, however, skew what happened to the extent he can in an attempt to support his claims on certiorari, and to attribute error to the trial judge, the Court of Appeals, and now, for the first time, in the prosecutor's closing argument.

Petitioner's testimony corroborated the State's proof of a victim too drunk to walk, almost unconscious when put into Petitioner's car with Petitioner's acquiescence (Petitioner's version) or after he volunteered (testimony of nightclub personnel), after Petitioner claimed to know the victim and where he lived (he acknowledged on the stand he was only "acquainted" with the victim). (R. p.22, line 11 to p. 23, l. 14; p. 228, l. 19 to p. 229, l. 5). Once the victim was in the Petitioner's car outside Bongo's, to find his home address it was necessary to take identification from victim's person in front of the bar personnel. Then his ex-brother-in-law then seated in the front seat passenger seat put the information into his laptop GPS address. (R. p. 229, l. 11 to p. 235, l. 7). The address was a Greer address that took the car out East North Street, then past the victim's home and then to a point out Old Spartanburg Highway/Highway 29 on the Greenville/Greer side of I-85 near Tacapau Road to U.S. Lumber Company in front of which a last effort by the victim to be release from the car ended in his murder. (R. p. 5, lines 1-5; p. 11, line 20 to p. 12, l. 8; p. 75 to p. 86; p. 235, l. 8 to p. 236, l. 17).

The Petitioner claimed he was attacked by the victim from the back seat while trying to drive him home, turning the car into a "missile" and justifying that he put a gun to the back of the victim's head as the victim was prone and face down in his lap. He

then blew the man's brain's out and all over Petitioner's shirt, pants, floorboard, driver's dash side, and clear up into the gun barrel. (R. p. 106, lines 6-12; p. 170, lines 12-24; p. 163, line 11 to p. 170, line 9; p. 187, line 1 to p. 198, line 3). This was, and is now, claimed as self-defense by Petitioner.

A brief summary of the fallacy in this follows from the proof in the case, what was seen and heard by the jury and the trial judge, which are as follows: (1) a drunken, semi-conscious man, too drunk to even stand or walk was placed into the backseat of the Petitioner's car to be driven home, at Petitioner's request/offer/acquiescence (R. p. 18, lines 13-21; p.19, ll. 6-23; l. 14; p. 220) (2) he awakened to find himself in the backseat of a vehicle with two strangers/"acquaintances" driving past his street and the car continued on despite his own objections (R. p. 59, ll. 15-21; p. 51; p. 57, line 10 to p. 60) (3) the victim lunged to the front seat but was quickly shoved back (R. p. 231 to p. 235 and much later concluded after passing over the span of what jurors would have known (from their common sense, experience and the proof in the case) covered miles of lit roadways from Greenville County and on into Spartanburg County (R. p. 102, lines 2-24; p. 235-236, l. 17; p. 239, l. 21 to p. 241, l. 16), turning the car into what Petitioner's counsel has termed a "missile"; (4) continued to a point in front of a large, known company on Old Spartanburg Road/Hwy. 29 on the Greenville side of I-85, where the totally unarmed victim's final efforts to be released led to his being shot in the back of the head, twice (R. p. 76, l. 6 p. 79) and (5) then continued another 10 miles into downtown Spartanburg before the car stopped, the passenger, now seen by witnesses as hysterical and obviously outraged with the driver, jumped out, took the gun from the Petitioner and threw it down in the street, and the police arrived shortly thereafter.

I.

The trial judge's charges as to Malice, Murder, Manslaughter and Self-Defense were correct and complete statements of the law on the facts of this case.

The State argued that the proof established an intentional killing of the victim with malice aforethought, murder and refutation of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. (R. p. 277 to p. 303). The State expressly told the jury that a failure to find malice also left them the option of voluntary manslaughter. (R. p. 299, lines 5-25).

The trial judge's charge to the jury on murder and malice was appropriate in its entirety. (R. p. 312, line 19 to p. 317). The charge as to Voluntary Manslaughter was appropriate in its entirety. (R. p. 317, line 4 to p. 318, l. 22). The charge as to Self-Defense was appropriate in its entirety. (R. p. 320, line 2 to p. 324, l. 11).

The trial judge committed no error of law, and charged a correct statement of the law that was applicable to the case. When requested, the trial judge must charge a correct and applicable principle of the law. *State v. Brandt*, 398 S.C. 526, 549, 713 SE 2d 591, 603 (2011). But the trial judge is not required to use any particular language in explaining that principle. *State v. Mattison*, 388 S.C. 469, 478-79, 697 SE 2d 578, 583 (2010). The charge as a whole must be considered in determining whether the trial judge charged the correct law applicable to the case. *Barber v. State*, 393 S.C. 232, 236, 712 SE 2d 436, 438 (2011).

The trial judge gave a full and clear application of the use of force and deadly force as a legal principle in the law of self-defense. (R. p. 320 to p. 324, l. 11). In doing so, the Court stated initially that, "[t]he right of self-defense is founded upon necessity, either actual or reasonably apparent necessity. (R. 320, ll. 17-18).

The trial judge from there proceeded through the elements in a charge that was thorough, fair, and a correct statement of legal principles, (R. p. 320, l. 10 to p. 327, l. 11) but which admittedly did not tell jurors that having once shot an unarmed man who was pinned face down, while he was being held in a car against his will, in the back of the head at contact range, the Defendant was essentially entitled to do so again from a slightly different angle until the threat posed “had completely ended.”

The only exception to the charge raised and now argued on certiorari were the failure to charge that justifiable first shot entitles one to a second shot, (the “continuing to shoot charge”) relying on *State v. Rye*, 375 S.C. 119, 651 SE 2d 321 (2002). (R. p. 332 to p. 336, l. 8). The jury retired to deliberate at 1:10 p.m. and returned at 3:00 p.m., after sending a request to the Court “to provide [them] a reinstruction on the definition of malice and also the definition of voluntary manslaughter. (R. p. 336 ll. 14-20). The Court reinstructed them as requested. (R. p. 336, l. 21 to p. 340, l. 15).

The jury reported a verdict convicting Petitioner of Murder and Possession of a Firearm during a Commission of a Violent Crime at 4:25 p.m. (R. p. 343 to 346) and the trial judge imposed sentence.

The Petitioner has now for the first time made attacks against the assistant solicitor in the case, claiming her argument “mirrored” the jury charge in *State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 675 SE 2d 180 2 (2009) There are several problems with this.

First, *Belcher* addressed and, under certain circumstances, has stricken a jury charge that instructs a jury that malice can be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon; this was held to be a violation of State common law principles 385 S.C. 517, 602-611; however, the argument of the prosecutor in this case was just that, an argument, and was

made without objection or claim at trial of a *Belcher* violation, one “mirrored” or otherwise. Now it is claimed for the first time on appeal in an attempt to bootstrap claims of prejudice. The “this” the Petitioner refers to is in fact the facts of the case in fact in their entirety and at no time encouraged the jury to infer malice merely from the use of a gun.

“This” was evidence of pulling a gun from the glove compartment while holding the victim face down, then cocking it under a four-pound pull or simply taking it from a bag, already cocked and at the ready, (R. p. 295, l. 9 to p 296, l.9; p. 293, line 3 to 22); this happened with malice aforethought after a second attempt by the victim to escape had nearly succeeded.

“This” was Petitioner’s claiming at the Bongo’s Bar in Greenville that he knew the victim whom Petitioner testified was only an “acquaintance”, one who was drunk and barely conscious. “This” was ignoring the victim’s efforts to get out of the car as it passed his home a short distance away. (R. p. 287, l. 10 to 28; ; p. 287 to 288, l. 14). “This” was taking no action to simply choose some other way for the victim to get home.

“This” was expecting a jury to believe that miles of major roadway between large, conjoining cities in South Carolina was virtually unlit and unpeopled even at 3:00 a.m. (R. pp.270-277).

“This” was two shots to the back of the head, so close the victim could have felt the barrel against his skin as it was fired. And “this” was a cold indifference to what Petitioner had done, continuing to ride on for another ten miles into downtown Spartanburg with a man’s head and chest still in his lap, and blood and brains all over the

Petitioner's shirt, pants and floorboard, (R. p. 251 to 253, l. 14), while another passenger was hysterical beside him. (R. p. 40 to ().

Against this record, the Petitioner now claims that the Solicitor's argument based on the facts somehow violated a prohibition as to jury charges under *Belcher*.

Against this record, these proven facts, it is argued that the Petitioner was (1) without fault in bringing about the difficulty; (2) actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; or actually was in such danger; (3) if his acts were only based on appearances, that a reasonable prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have thought likewise an acted as Petitioner did; and (4) the Petitioner had no other means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance. *State v. Hendrix*, 270 S.C. 653, 657-658; 244 S.E. 2nd 503 (SC 1978); *McAninch*, *The Criminal Law of South Carolina*, pp. 675-686 (*The South Carolina Bar*, 4th Ed. 2002).

Even assuming for argument that the charge had been requested and given, the only scenario under which it might in theory have been claimed to apply, that of standing upon the right of self-defense while claiming immunity from a duty to retreat, *id.*, would still have been to no avail to Petitioner under the tenets of *Rye*. In *Rye*, trespassers upon the defendant's business property stole his tools, damaged the property and made sport of killing his pets. A confrontation between the defendant and some of these trespassers resulted in one of the victims being shot and killed by the defendant. 375 S.C. 119, 121-123. The trial judge refused the defendant's proposed request on the defense of habitation. *Id. at p. 124*. In his charge to the jury, the trial judge differentiated habitation from self-defense "with the sole caveat that "[a] person defending his or her home or

premises...has no duty to retreat.” Though this was most of the picture, it was not the complete picture.” *Id.* The Court in *Rye* held that “the charges in the instant case incorrectly implied that habitation requires a defendant to establish that his person or property was in some danger of injury or harm.” *Id.*

Petitioner in this case never sought a charge on defense of habitation; his argument at p. 10 of his initial brief was merely an effort to now reconfigure and raise an issue via the back door. The question put to the jury was whether the killing of the victim was self-defense, murder, or voluntary manslaughter. Petitioner’s counsel did not, and again could not, claim the car was a habitation in which Petitioner was lawfully armed and acting reasonably to *expel* a trespasser. The vehicle was claimed by Petitioner *as a weapon*, a “missile” against which Petitioner was acting in self-defense when he used deadly force upon the victim.

After the charge to the jury, Petitioner’s counsel argued *Rye* only as support for the proposition that if a defendant is justified in shooting once, he is justified to continue until the threat is completely ended. (R. 332-35). Later on, at the jury’s request during their deliberations, the judge recharged on the law of murder and voluntary manslaughter. (R. 336). After that, Petitioner argued *Douglas* and *Hendrix* in support of the one shot warranting another shot argument, which had been raised before without supporting precedent. The argument for that charge has been refuted herein.

Here, the jury requested only to be recharged on the law of murder and voluntary manslaughter at that point in the proceedings. For the trial judge to have added the improper charge of “shoot him once and you can shoot him again” at that point in time

would have potentially confused the jury, or improperly suggested some particular weight to be given to a charge that was properly refused in the first place.¹

The trial judge gave a properly crafted charge to the jury on the law of self-defense. During the incident in question, the facts at trial clearly established there was no danger present that would justify shooting the victim and continuing to shoot him.

Even assuming the charge as it was requested, that Petitioner could continue shooting the victim after the first shot, was a correct proposition of law, a trial judge is not required to give a charge, as requested, verbatim, and the charge actually given to the jurors in this case properly covered the issue of a reasonable use of deadly force in defense of self or of others. *State v. Brandt*, 393 S.C. 526, 713 S.E.2d 591 (2011). The request to charge was not properly raised and supporting authority was not offered to the court in timely fashion.

There was no error, there was no prejudice, and the denial of the request to charge was harmless, if constituting error at all. *See State v. Hicks, Douglas v. State and discussion above. See also State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 752 S.E.2d 263 (2013); *Brandt*, 393 S.C. at 549, 713 S.E.2d at 603 (in reviewing charges for error, this Court will review the charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial); *Priest v. Scott*, 266 S.C. 321, 324, 223 S.E.2d 36, 38 (1976)(an alleged error in a portion of a charge must be considered in the light of the whole charge and must be prejudicial to warrant a new trial).

¹The jury did not request to be recharged on self-defense or that self-defense be further explained or defined. It is clear the jury had already determined shooting someone in the back of the head under these circumstances, was not reasonable. The jury was trying to determine if Petitioner had committed murder or voluntary manslaughter, i.e. which of those crimes Petitioner had committed.

The Respondent has previously refuted these claims in detail. The Court of Appeals addressed them and rejected them. The Court of Appeals was correct in affirming the conviction and in denying rehearing.²

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the judgment of conviction must be affirm and/or certiorari should be denied as improvidently granted.